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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL. APPEARANCE

The Milton House, built in 1844, consists of a three-story hexagonal tower 
with each side of the hexagon approximately 20 feet wide, giving a total 
outer wall perimeter of something over 120 feet. A two-story rectangular 
wing^which is 42 feet deep and 19 feet wide adjoins tiie soutH face of the 
tower, with the front wall of the wing beginning at the westernmost edge of 
the south face. The walls of the entire structure are made of concrete or 
grout consisting of sand, cement, broken stones and gravel in wet mixture 
which was tamped into forms to construct the walls. The outer^^ace of the 
walls jwas plastered or jittfccoad • The basement is constructneablF^mmered

m 
m

limestone. Basement walls are 18" thick; first floor walls 15"; and the up­ 
per walls 12". In the center of the tower is a large chimney around which 
a circular (hexagonal) winding staircase follows to the third floor. Both 
top floors had five bedrooms or guest rooms, each with a door leading to 
the stairway. The ground floor was devoted to a parlor and a lobby.

Windows are double hung sash with wood frames and varying numbers of panes; 
those of the upper two floors of the tower have four panes per sash; those 
of the first floor, six panes each; and those of both floors of the wing* 
have nine-paned upper and six-paned lower sash. A single large squared 
wood beam flush with the front wall serves as a lintel for the two lower 
windows of the wing, extending horizontally above the front door. Beams of 
similar size extend downward from it and form the sides of the door frame. 
A lintel of the same size caps the door frame and connects with the vertical 
pieces, the effect being that of providing the door with a cement transom 
and the entire first floor door-window complex with an appearance of 
extraordinary sturdiness.
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Originally the two-story wing extended roughly ninety-two feet from the south 
wall of the tower and was^divided into five^separate units. The one nearest 
the tower was the living quarters of the Goodrich family, while the remaining 
four were occupied variously by stores or craftsmen's shops. The tower it­ 
self was the hostelry. Behind the middle of the five wing units was a fc«*y- 
foot extension, two stories high, which added to the storage and utility space 
and really created a T of the wing as a whole.

In 1948 the four southernmost units collapsed, largely as a result of tamper­ 
ing with the south wall to provide an opening, leaving only the northernmost 
unit of the wing or T intact. When the Milton House was restored, only the 
unit adjoining the tower was restored along with the tower. In the restor­ 
ation process, the ground floor of the tower was given additional support 
with vertical shoring and with replacement or reinforcement of floor joists. 
This and similar reinforcing where needed elsewhere, plus the loss of the 
greater part of the south wing, constitute the major alterations which have 
occurred. The restoration was nevertheless done with a high degree of 
fidelity.

Behind or to the east of the hexagonal tower is the small 1 1/2-story log 
cabin which was Goodrich T s home and hostelry from about 1838 until he erected 
the Milton House. It is built of hand-squared logs and has the usual gable 
roof shingled with hand-cut shakes. At the west end is a massive split- 
rock c1 \y .amntooafcMftliniiiimiOTt^^ After the Milton
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7. House was built, an underground tunnel connected its basement with the 
log cabin. The cabin is today a museum as part of the Milton House 
complex.

DESCRIPTION OF BOUNDARIES OF HISTORIC SITE:

Bounded on the north by a town road leading to Storrs Lake, on the east 
and south by private properties, and on the west by Janesville Street.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Architecturally, the design of Milton House is that of its biiij-derj Joseph 
Goodrich, who explained that the purpose of the hexagonal tower was to en­ 
able him to watch for hostile Indians and that the use of cement walls was 
occasioned by the fact that burning the white man's dwelling was a frequent 
form of Indian attack.

Whether these reasons for the design and mode of construction are fact or 
fancy, the Milton House is significant not only for its influence on Orson 
Fowler but also, through him, its influence on American architecture at 
least ib a degree. In his book A Home For All, Fowler states, relating to 
his visit to Wisconsin in 1850, " 'Near Jaynesville, Wise., I saw houses 
built wholly of lime mixed with coarse gravel and sand...I visited Milton, 
to examine the house put up by Mr. Goodrich, the original discoverer of this 
mode of building, and found his walls as hard as stone itself, and harder 
than brick walls...He erected a blacksmith's shop, and finally a block of 
stores and dwellings; and his plan was copied extensively. And he certain­ 
ly deserves to be immortalized, for the superiority of this plan'must cer­ 
tainly revolutionize building, and especially enable poor men to build their 
own homes. All the credit I claim is that of appreciating its superiority, 
applying it on a large scale, and greatly improving the mode of putting up 
this kind of wall. 1 "^ Perrin adds, "What Joseph Goodrich had unwittingly 
done was to rediscover Roman concrete and give it one of the earliest uses 
in modern times."^ Goodrich has been credited with having erected the first 
concrete building in the country, but whether or not that can be supported 
as fact, Fowler's espousal of concrete as a structural material after seeing 
the Milton House, undoubtedly had its effects in the United States.

The small log cabin in which Goodrich lived before building the Milton House 
has significance in itself, and both structures were included in the 1941 
catalog of the Historic American Buildings Survey. About the cabin's archi­ 
tecture Perrin states, "Of the small one-room cabins which marked the early 
pioneer period, two very good examples have survived and, fortunately, fall­ 
ing into sympathetic hands, have been very nicely restored. They are the 
John Petty cabin at Aztalan ...and the Goodrich cabin at Milton in Rock 
County. Both.,.were built by 'Yankees' in the late 1830's and are very 
typical of the smaller variety built by pioneers of Anglo-American stock?5

Transportation history is naturally associated with the era of stagecoach 
travel and the establishment of taverns or inns along the stagecoach roads
to provide food, shelter and rest for the travelers of the day. It is es­ 
pecially interesting that Joseph Goodrich was reputedly quite scientific
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in choosing a site for his hostelry in the early days of such travel 
in Wisconsin!'""He"is"'said' to have selected the site by drawing on a 
map of the territory one line connecting Chicago and Madison and another 
connecting Fort Atkinson and the bend of the Rock River at which Janes- 
ville was being established. At the intersection of these lines he 
bought a considerable quantity of land and built his inn, expecting 
that it would become a major stopping and transfer place. It became so 
indeed and remained important for years thereafter, even when railroads 
at Milton and nearby Milton Junction eventually ended the need for a 
stagecoach stop. During the height of the era of stagecoach travel and 
as late as the 1870's there were at least twenty-five stagecoaches which 
made daily stops at the Milton House.

Goodrich is noted for other activities as well. In the same year that 
he built the Milton House, he established, in another cement building, 
the coeducational academy which later became Milton College. And while 
travel through the area was increasing, Goodrich was working at building 
the community of Milton, which he had established.

In pre-Civil War days the Milton House and Goodrich's log cabin, connected 
by a secret underground tunnel, served as a haven for escaped slaves on 
their way from the South to freedom in Canada. The Milton House is noted 
as having been an important and active station on the underground railroad.

1. Titus, "The First Concrete Building in the United States," 186
2. Quoted in Perrin, The Architecture of Wisconsin, 35
3. Perrin, The Architecture of Wisconsin, 36.
4. Titus, op. cit., 185
5. Perrin, Historic Wisconsin Buildings, 8
6. Titus, op. cit., 184
7. Cole, Stagecoach and Tavern Tales, 127-128

x^^flTT^Tx
/fo>r'^n^

A/' RECE'VtQ v^
fcV ;,.,.-, is B71 \rj

GP 0 901 -08 2


